No. 94791-1

FILED

JUL 2 0 2017

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 34540-8-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EPIC,

Appellant,

v.

CLIFTONLARSONALLEN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric R. Hultman, WSBA #17414 Hultman Law Office 218 Main St., #477 Kirkland, WA 98033 (425) 943-0649

Attorney for Appellant EPIC

A. Introduction and Identity of Petitioner

EPIC seeks review of the decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals, Div. III, issued a decision dated June 20, 2017, terminating review. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at A-1 through A-24.

C. Issues Presented for Review

- 1. May a court enforce an auditing accountant's two-year contractual limitations clause against its client's ability to file a lawsuit against it for the accountant's negligent audits when the client did not have any notice of actual and appreciable damage caused by the improper audits?
- 2. Does a contractual limitation provision in an auditing accountant's contract with a nonprofit start to run prior to the accountant's client receiving any knowledge that the accountant committed any negligence that caused damage to the client?
- 3. Does a client's malpractice and negligent misrepresentation claims based on deficient work by the accounting firm in 2007-2010 accrue when the client learns of errors by the client's chief financial

officer ("CFO") in 2011 or not until the client learns that the accounting firm committed error in years 2007-2010?

4. Does the application of a contractual limitations period shorter than the statute of limitations, commencing prior to accrual of any claim against accountants, which operates to shield accountants from liability for deficient work, raise an issue of substantial public interest?

D. Statement of the Case

1. EPIC retained CLA to audit its financial practices to assure compliance with grant funding requirements in years 2007-2011.

EPIC is a non-profit corporation that receives Head Start and Migrant Education program funding from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS"). CP 8-9. The grant funding contains restrictions on how it is used. CP 9.

EPIC retained CLA to perform auditing services. *Id.* In CLA's engagement letters for the years 2009-2010, there were provisions expressly providing that CLA was to determine whether EPIC was properly administering federal grant funds, in accordance with OMB Circular A-133. CP 54, 68.

CLA's audit engagement letters provided that any claims arising out of the audits must be brought within two years of delivery of the audit. CP 38, 44, 52, 57, 70, 79. CLA's audits from 2007-2010 did not note any

errors in EPIC's handling of grant funds (violations of OMB Circular A-133) during those years. CP 9. CLA delivered the 2010 audit to EPIC in March 2011. CP 95.

2. <u>HHS discovered financial mismanagement of grant funds</u>
<u>by EPIC in 2011, requiring EPIC to return grant funds and</u>
decline to seek future grant funds for two years.

In January 2012, HHS notified EPIC of discrepancies in the matching of grant funds for grant year 2011 and expenses incurred in grant year 2011. CP 157-164. The letter stated:

[EPIC] drew down Head Start funds when expenses were recorded but held invoices in [Accounts Payable] or held back checks, delaying disbursement; therefore, it was not in compliance with the regulation.

CP 162. The letter required EPIC to take corrective action within 90 days, without stating what that corrective action had to be. *Id.* No part of the letter indicated that EPIC's auditors had committed any negligence, nor did the letter address EPIC's handling of grant funds in years prior to 2011. The letter did not request that EPIC repay any funds or warn EPIC that it would have to repay any funds to the federal government.

In February 2013, HHS notified EPIC that due to the failure of EPIC to comply with grant funding rules in 2011, EPIC was asked to refund \$1,146,039 of 2011 grant funds. CP 9. EPIC was able to appeal and ultimately reduce the final amount it had to repay to \$303,287. CP 9.

3. EPIC diligently attempted to determine whether CLA had breached any duties in performing its audits in years 2007-2010.

When EPIC's senior management found out that EPIC's CFO had been violating grant-funding rules by using grant funds from one time-period to pay expenses incurred in a different time-period, they put a stop to it. CP 146. EPIC terminated its CFO due to his apparent inability to properly manage Head Start funds. *Id*.

In August 2013, after HHS reduced the amount of 2011 funding EPIC would have to repay, EPIC began focusing on (1) how the mismatching occurred, (2) how long it went on, and (3) whether CLA could have uncovered it sooner, alerting EPIC prior to HHS finding out, so EPIC could have corrected the problem without having to either repay grant funds to HHS or decline to seek grant funds in 2013. CP 146.

In September 2013, EPIC retained Tiffany Couch, a forensic accountant, to investigate CLA's work. *Id.* She did not provide a report to EPIC until June 2015. *Id.* That is the only evidence in the record as to when EPIC learned that it did have grounds for a malpractice claim against CLA.

Couch found that there were consistent errors in handling federal grant funds in years 2007-2010 (and 2011) that the auditors should have

detected. CP 149. The failure to identify these errors likely breached the standard of care for auditors. *Id*.

The errors in handling Head Start-related funds in 2011 (comparable to errors going back to 2007) were the basis for Head Start's decision to require EPIC to repay those funds for 2011. *Id*.

Couch opined that the two-year limitation in CLA engagement letters for bringing a claim, commencing upon delivery of the audit, is unreasonably short, as many errors by auditors will not become apparent to the principal within that two-year period. *Id*.

4. EPIC commenced this action in December 2015.

EPIC commenced this action in December 2015. CP 8. It asserted claims for legal malpractice/professional negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of contract, all arising out of CLA's audits of EPIC in years 2007-2010. CP 8-11.

5. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's summary judgment that all of EPIC's claims were barred by the expiration of the two-year contractual limitations period that commenced upon delivery of the audit.

CLA moved to dismiss under CR 12(b)(6) and for judgment under CR 56 on the basis that EPIC's claims were time-barred by the two-year limitations period. CP 12. CLA relied upon CLA's engagement letters from 2007-2011 that contained the limitations clause. *Id*.

The trial court granted CLA's motions. CP 178. This appeal timely followed. CP 184.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the summary judgment. Opinion dated June 20, 2017. In the decision, the Court of Appeals asserted that "EPIC does not identify any material fact which it knew when it filed the lawsuit in December 2015 that it did not know by February 2012." Opinion, p. 20. This statement ignores, at a minimum, (1) HHS' notice in February 2013 seeking to have EPIC repay \$1.1 million, (2) HHS' final notice in August 2013 of the final repayment required being \$300,000, and (3) Couch's report in June 2015 that indicated that CLA may have violated its standard of care in 2007-2010.

E. Summary of Argument

The published decision below from Division III conflicts with Division I's decisions in *Murphey v. Grass*, 164 Wn.App. 584, 267 P.2d 376 (2011) and *Sabey v. Howard Johnson & Co.*, 101 Wn.App. 575, 5 P.3d 730 (2000), as to when a claim "accrues" in determining whether it is timely commenced. This conflict supports review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

In *Murphey*, *supra*, the plaintiff's claims were that its accountant negligently prepared tax returns, which, after administrative appeals, ultimately resulted in the government requiring the plaintiff to pay additional amounts in taxes and penalties. The accountant asserted the

claims were time-barred, arguing they "accrued" when the government first requested the plaintiff pay additional taxes and penalties. The Court of Appeals disagreed, determining the claims did not "accrue" until the government issued a final decision requiring the plaintiff to pay. Until that final decision, the plaintiff had not been damaged.

Sabey, supra, addressed accrual of a negligence and negligent misrepresentation claim. A negligence claim "accrues" when a plaintiff has a right to seek relief in the courts, which requires an actual injury. 101 Wn.App. 592-3. The negligent misrepresentation claim does not accrue until the plaintiff also discovers the misrepresentation. *Id*.

Sabey involved the purchase of a corporation with an underfunded pension plan. The issue was when the plaintiff was damaged: "The question here is when Sabey was damaged." 101 Wn.App. 593. The defendant argued the plaintiff was damaged when there was some knowledge of a problem with the pension plan. The Court of Appeals disagreed, ruling the plaintiff was not injured, so the negligence claim had not accrued, until the plaintiff was requested to pay funds. 101 Wn.App. at 594.

The Court of Appeals here ruled that as a matter of law, EPIC was damaged when it became aware of issues with its handling of grant funds, not later when EPIC was asked to repay grant funds. The effect of the

Court of Appeals error was to find that EPIC's malpractice claim accrued within the contractual limitations period, making that limitations period enforceable.

The Court of Appeals did not determine when EPIC learned of CLA's misrepresentations regarding the 2007-2010 audits. If EPIC did not learn (and should not have learned through reasonable diligence) of the misrepresentations until after March 2013, the limitations period would not be enforceable against EPIC's negligent misrepresentation claim.

In addition to misapplying the law on when a party is damaged and its claim accrued, the Court of Appeals decision has the effect of allowing accountants to shield themselves from liability by including unreasonable limitations provisions in contract that require their clients to commence claims prior to the clients being aware that they have a claim. Whether accountants, a highly regulated profession with obligations to clients set forth in RCW 18.04.105 *et seq.*, should be permitted to shield themselves from liability for their negligence that harms clients raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this court, supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. Argument Why Review Should be Granted

1. <u>Division III's published opinion conflicts with Division I's published opinions on accrual of claims.</u>

Division III's ruling that a claim against an auditor accrues when a client learns of errors by its CFO conflicts with the Division I standard that such a claim does not accrue until the plaintiff is asked to pay money.

The damage necessary for a claim to accrue must be "actual" and "appreciable," not the "mere danger of future harm." *Haslund v. Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 607, 619-20, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976). A client's malpractice claim against its accountants, where the damages consist of amounts the client has to pay to the government, "accrues" when the government requests an amount to be paid that is attributable to the accountant's malpractice. *Murphey*, 164 Wn.App. at 594-5.

Here, the question of when EPIC's claim against CLA "accrued" arises in the context of the enforceability of the provision in the EPIC-CLA contract that a claim must be commenced within two years of delivery of the audit. Such a contractual limitations period is only enforceable if it is "reasonable." Courts will not enforce a contractual limitation period that is unreasonable. *Yakima Asphalt & Paving Co. v. Dept. of Transportation*, 45 Wn.App. 663, 666, 726 P.2d 1021 (1986).

The effect of CLA's contractual limitations clause, if enforceable, is to shorten the time period in which EPIC must commence an action.

Under the applicable statute of limitations of RCW 4.16.080, the time period is three years, not two, and it commences upon EPIC's "discovery" of the basis for its claim, not the earlier delivery of the audit.

In deciding whether a shorter contractual limitations period is reasonable, courts examine the reasons offered by the plaintiff for why the limitations period was not reasonable and whether it left the plaintiff with a reasonable opportunity to bring its claim. In *Syrett v. Reisner McEwin & Assocs.*, 107 Wn.App. 524, 24 P.3d 1070 (2001), the court noted that the plaintiff provided "no explanation why" the contractual limitation period "should not be viewed as reasonable." In contrast, EPIC provided reasons. EPIC was not damaged by CLA's auditing errors until HHS took action against EPIC, which did not occur until more than two years after CLA delivered the audits for the years 2007-2010.

Syrett cited with approval Sheard v. United States Fid. & Guaranty Co., 58 Wn. 29, 107 P. 1024 (1910), where this court noted that a contractual limitation period that required a plaintiff to commence the action prior to being able to ascertain its "pecuniary loss" was "unreasonable." 58 Wn. at 35.

N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2010), striking down a two-year contractual limitations period as unreasonable, as it did not provide the plaintiff sufficient time to ascertain and investigate the claim and prepare for the controversy. It is per se unreasonable to require a plaintiff to commence an action prior to the date when "the loss or damage is capable of being ascertained." 612 N.W.2d at 787. A limitations period that in essence abrogates the right of recovery is unenforceable. *Id.* at 788.

The two cases cited in *Syrett* with approval show that a limitations period that expires before or soon after the plaintiff becomes aware it was damaged, such that the plaintiff does not have an opportunity to commence the action before the limitations period expires, is unreasonable and unenforceable.

The Court of Appeals cited *Sheard* in requiring that CLA's two-year limitation period would only be enforced if EPIC had a reasonable opportunity to discover it had a claim against EPIC and to prepare and file that claim by March 2013. The question before the Court of Appeals was how long (if at all) prior to March 2013 had EPIC's claim "accrued," and did that provide EPIC with a reasonable opportunity to commence an action prior to March 2013 arising out of that audit.

EPIC did not have a reasonable opportunity to ascertain that CLA's 2007-2010 audits were deficient, and that EPIC had been damaged by those audits, until HHS issued its final disallowance in August 2013. It was not reasonable to require EPIC to commence a malpractice action prior to EPIC being damaged.

Even if EPIC had notice that it was damaged by HHS' preliminary notice in February 2013, the limitations period is not sufficient. EPIC would have only a month at most to investigate, obtain an expert and determine that CLA had been negligent in not catching the CFO's errors earlier, consult with and retain counsel, and commence an action arising out of the 2010 and earlier audits.

In addition, February 2013 is more than two years after delivery of the 2007-2009 audits, so the two-year contractual limitations period in those audits, if enforced, would have required EPIC to initiate an action arising out of those audits prior to EPIC being aware of any problem.

The Court of Appeals did not provide a reason for why a two-year contractual limitations period, commencing upon delivery of the audit rather than accrual of the cause of action, was necessary for CLA or reasonable for its business. When courts enforce a shorter limitations period than the applicable statute of limitations, the court explained why it was reasonable in those circumstances.

When courts have enforced shorter contractual limitations periods, the limitations period commenced after the plaintiff had suffered some loss or damage, not mere delivery of a document. In *Wothers v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 101 Wn.App. 75, 5 P.3d 719 (2000), the contractual limitations period commenced upon the date of the plaintiff's loss. 101 Wn.App. at 79. In *Yakima Asphalt, supra*, the plaintiff would be aware of his damage prior to the limitations period commencing. 45 Wn.App. at 766. EPIC had not suffered any loss at the time CLA delivered its audits.

The two-year limitations period, which expired before EPIC sustained any "actual damage" such that the claim accrued, was unreasonable here. The Court of Appeals determination of the accrual date conflicts with *Murphey* and *Sabey*, resulting in the Court of Appeals erroneously affirming that the malpractice claim was time-barred.

The Court of Appeals failure to determine when EPIC should have learned of CLA's misrepresentations conflicts with Sabey on accrual of a negligent misrepresentation claim.

2. The Court of Appeals failed to view the evidence in the most favorable to EPIC in determining whether EPIC had a reasonable opportunity to discover it had a claim prior to the expiration of the contractual limitations period.

As the party opposing summary judgment, EPIC was entitled to all favorable inferences from the evidence in determining whether the

limitations period was reasonable. A party opposing summary judgment is entitled to have the court view the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Roger Crane & Associates v. Felice*, 74 Wn.App. 769, 875 P.2d 705 (1994).

Here, the Court of Appeals sought to determine whether EPIC's claims accrued in time for EPIC to commence its claim with the contractual limitations period that expired in March 2013. In doing so, it applied the rules regarding when a plaintiff's claim has "accrued" for the purpose of the discovery rule for commencing the statute of limitations.

The discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations until the cause of action accrues. *Sabey v. Howard Johnson & Co.*, 101 Wn.App. at 592-3. The discovery rule applies to malpractice actions against accountants. *Hunter v. Knight, Vale and Gregory*, 18 Wn.App. 640, 644, 571 P.2d 212 (1977).

Under the discovery rule, a party's claim is deemed to accrue when a party exercising due diligence would have discovered the facts supporting the claim. *1000 Virginia Ltd. Partnership v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 575, 146 P.3d 423 (2006).

Whether a plaintiff has exercised due diligence is a question of fact. *Mayer v. City of Seattle*, 102 Wn.App. 66, 76, 10 P.3d 408 (2000).

The issue of whether a plaintiff has suffered actual damages, such that its claim accrued, "can be decided as a matter of law if reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion." *Hudson v. Condon*, 101 Wn.App. 866, 875, 6 P.3d 615 (2000). Because the statute of limitations is an affirmative defense, the burden of proof is on the defendant. *Mayer*, 102 Wn.App. at 76.

Whether EPIC, exercising diligence, should have "discovered" its claims within two years of delivery of the audit, such that its claim accrued within time for EPIC to commence its action within the limitations period, is a question of fact. The Court of Appeals erred by ruling as a matter of law that EPIC should have been aware it had a claim and commenced its action within two years of delivery of the audit.

In doing so, the Court of Appeals failed to grant favorable inferences to EPIC. It concluded that EPIC should have known it had a claim against CLA based solely upon HHS' notice in January 2012 that EPIC had mismanaged grant funds in 2011 and that it was necessary for EPIC to take corrective action.

The Court of Appeals failed to view January 2012 notice in the light most favorable to EPIC. That notice did not describe what that "corrective action" would be, with no hint that it would require repayment

of grant funds. That notice also did not question why EPIC's auditors did not discover EPIC's mismanagement of grant funds.

In addition, the January 2012 notice addressed mismanagement of 2011 grant funds, with no reference to prior years. EPIC's claims against CLA were based on CLA's failure to uncover EPIC's mismanagement of grant funds in years prior to 2011, to enable EPIC to address the problem prior to HHS discovering the mismanagement and requiring EPIC to repay funds. The January 2012 notice was not notice of the factual basis for EPIC's claims against CLA, at least when viewed most favorably to EPIC.

In response to this January 2012 notice, rather than pursuing litigation, EPIC attempted to take corrective action as it understood the letter required. EPIC fired the employee responsible for mismanaging the funds. EPIC instituted new procedures to be sure to comply with HHS grant funding rules. EPIC did not go back to examining the years prior to 2011 until August 2013.

At a minimum, reasonable minds could differ on whether the January 2012 notice, which said nothing about CLA's failure to uncover the mismanagement of grant funds, and did not request EPIC to repay any funds, put EPIC on notice that it had a malpractice claim against CLA.

EPIC's negligent misrepresentation claim not only required that EPIC be damaged for it to accrue, it also required that EPIC discover

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