FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/17/2017 11:45 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94791-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III NO. 34540-8-III

EPIC, a non-profit corporation,

Appellant,

v.

CLIFTONLARSONALLEN LLP,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark D. Watson, WSBA #14693 **MEYER, FLUEGGE & TENNEY, P.S.** 230 S. Second St. – P.O. Box 22680 Yakima, WA 98907-2680 Phone: (509) 575-8500

and

Charles E. Jones (admitted *pro hac vice*)
MOSS & BARNETT
A Professional Association
150 South Fifth Street, Suite 1200
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Phone: (612) 877-5000

Attorneys for Respondent CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

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

In Washington, contractual limitations on the time to bring suit ranging between three months and a year have been found to be reasonable and not violative of public policy. *Syrett*, 107 Wn. App. at 530, 24 P.3d at 1073. In *Syrett*, the court enforced a six-month contract limitations period, after first noting that a contractual limitations period "is not unreasonable if the time allowed affords a plaintiff sufficient

opportunity to ascertain and investigate the claim and prepare for the controversy." *Syrett*, 107 Wn. App. at 529-30, 24 P.3d at 1073.

Here, as the Court of Appeals concluded, the contractual limitations clauses are reasonable and enforceable, specifically because EPIC had sufficient opportunity from the time the claims accrued to investigate the claim and prepare for the controversy. As to the audits for 2006-2009, EPIC had two years from the date of the *last* audit report to commence its claims. Since the last audit report was issued in June 2013, EPIC had until June 2015 to commence an action. As to the audits for 2010 and 2011, EPIC had two years from the date of the report *at issue* to commence its claims. Thus, the two-year limitations period for the 2010 audit report ended on March 28, 2013. (*See* Op., p. 13-14 ("Note that the limitation period for the 2010 and 2011 audits expired earlier than the 2006-2009 audits, with the period for the 2010 audit expiring first."))

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that, under these facts, these contractual limitations clauses gave EPIC a sufficient opportunity to investigation and assert its claims should not be disturbed.

B. EPIC's Claims Against CLA Accrued No Later than September 2012.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that EPIC's claim against CLA accrued in 2012, and certainly no later than September 2012.

1. Washington law regarding the "discovery rule."

Under the discovery rule, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff learns the salient facts, even if the plaintiff does not understand the legal significance of those facts. 1000 Virginia Ltd. Partn. v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 576, 146 P.3d 423, 428 (2006). Determining when a claim accrues can involve fact questions, but it is proper for the trial court to resolve the issue as a matter of law if reasonable minds cannot differ as to the interpretation of the relevant facts. *Martin v. Dematic*, 178 Wn. App. 646, 653, 315 P.3d 1126 (2013). The court considers whether the plaintiff had knowledge of the factual basis of the cause of action, not the legal basis. August v. U.S. Bancorp, 146 Wn. App. 328, 342, 190 P.2d 86 (2008); Germain v. Pullman Baptist Church, 96 Wn. App. 826, 832, 980 P.2d 809 (1999). The claimant need not be aware of the full extent of the damages. Cashmere Valley Bank v. Brender, 128 Wn. App. 497, 508, 116 P.3d. 421 (2005), aff'd, 158 Wn.2d 655, 146 P.3d 928 (2006). A person who has notice of facts that are sufficient to put him or her upon inquiry notice is deemed to have notice of all facts that reasonable inquiry would disclose. Id. (citing Hawkes v. Hoffman, 56 Wash. 120, 126, 105 P. 156 (1909).) A cause of action may accrue even when the claimant is not aware of the full extent of the damages. Cashmere Valley Bank. v. Brender, 128 Wn. App. 497, 508, 116 P.3d 421 (2005), aff'd, 158 Wn.2d 655, 146 P.3d 928 (2006).

2. Under the discovery rule, EPIC's claim accrued in 2012 and no later than September 2012.

Given these principles, the Court of Appeals concluded that the undisputed facts show that EPIC's claim against CLA had accrued in 2012, and no later than September 2012. (Op., pp. 18-20.) This conclusion is supported by the record and should not be disturbed.

EPIC's full and fair opportunity to pursue its claims is demonstrated by two undisputed points. First, contrary to EPIC's contention that it had no opportunity to sue CLA for claims arising out of the 2006 through 2009 audits, EPIC actually had several years in which to bring a claim arising out of those reports. On this point, EPIC misses a key term in the engagement agreements. Unlike the later engagement agreements, the agreements for those earlier audits require a claim to be brought within two years "after the *last* audit report issued by [LeMaster & Daniels PLLC (now CLA)]." (CP 38; CP 44; CP 52; CP 57.) The issuance date of the last audit report was June 25, 2013. (CP 125.) Thus, EPIC had until June 25, 2015 to commence a lawsuit against CLA based upon an alleged failure by CLA to uncover funds mismanagement in the 2006 through 2009 audits.

Second, with regard to EPIC's claim arising out of the March 28, 2011 report for the 2010 audit, EPIC had plenty of time to assert such a claim after the misuse of Head Start funds was disclosed and before the expiration of the two-year period that ran from the date of that report. The

Court of Appeals noted that the January 17, 2012 notification from HHS warned EPIC that it had mismanaged grant funds, and stated,

EPIC had available then the 2010 audit report in addition to earlier reports. A review of the 2010 report would have confirmed that CLA failed to warn EPIC of its violation of the federal regulations.

(Op., p. 18.)³ This statement is amply supported by the record. The Court of Appeals further noted that EPIC could have reviewed its own records and reached the same conclusion. (*Id.*) As a result of the HHS notification, EPIC took immediate action and began to incur expenses. (*Id.*, p. 19) By April 2012, EPIC knew that "any failure to catch the mistake by CLA was reaping damage." (*Id.*) In the September 19, 2012 audit report, CLA disclosed misuse of Head Start funds dating back to at least the end of 2009. (*Id.*, *see also* CP 119.) Thus, during the two-year period after the March 28, 2011 report, EPIC had more than a year – and at least six months from CLA's September 2012 report – in which to assert claims arising out of the March 2011 report. Washington cases have enforced contractual limitations as short as three months. *Syrett*, 107 Wn. App. at 530, 24 P.3d at 1073.

In short, on this record EPIC had ample opportunity to learn of and investigate any potential claim against CLA, well before the expiration of the contractual limitations period. The record amply supports the Court of

³ Of course, CLA does not concede that its predecessors committed any breaches of the duty of care.

Appeals' analysis and its decision to affirm the Superior Court's dismissal of EPIC's claim.

3. EPIC's accrual-date arguments are inconsistent with well-established Washington law.

In its Petition, EPIC contends that the claim did not accrue until August 2013. First, EPIC argues that HHS did not issue its "final disallowance" until that time. But this argument ignores the undisputed fact that almost immediately after the January 2012 notice, EPIC began to take action and to incur costs to deal with the funds mismatching problem. (Op., p. 18-19.)

EPIC also argues that it justifiably waited until August 2013 to begin focusing on whether CLA was responsible for not uncovering the error in its earlier audit reports. Even if the claim did not accrue until August 2013, EPIC waited for more than two years to commence its action. Further, EPIC's argument ignores precedent from this Court. When a plaintiff is placed on notice by some appreciable harm occasioned by another's wrongful conduct, the plaintiff must make further diligent inquiry to ascertain the scope of the actual harm. *Green v. A.P.C.*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 96, 960 P.2d 912 (1998). EPIC did not retain its forensic accountant until September 2013. This person provided her "preliminary report" to EPIC in June 2015. (CP 149.) EPIC does not point to anything in the record that explains why EPIC could not have retained Couch in 2012, why EPIC had to wait for Couch to finish her work, or why Couch

could not have issued her preliminary report much sooner than she did.

And, as the Court of Appeals properly observed, EPIC does not identify any *material* fact which it knew when it filed the lawsuit in December 2015 that it did not know within the limitations period.

Finally, EPIC argues that it did not actually know it had a claim against CLA until June 2015, when the expert issued her preliminary report. (Petition, p. 4.) But the running of a limitations period is not tolled until a plaintiff consults an expert or is informed by an attorney that a breach of the applicable standard of care has occurred. *Gevaart v. Metco Constr.*, 111 Wn.2d 499, 501-502, 760 P.2d 348 (1988). Further, nothing in Washington law supports EPIC's apparent position that, before bringing a claim, EPIC was required to wait until it could be assured that the claim would prevail. CR 8 simply requires that the Complaint provide a short and plain statement of the claim, and CR 11 simply requires that a claim be "well grounded in fact" and "warranted by existing law." Indeed, when EPIC finally commenced its lawsuit, it did so on the basis of the information it had no later than September 2012.

In short, the record in this case establishes, beyond any doubt, that EPIC had a full and fair opportunity to investigate and bring its claims against CLA. EPIC knew about the regulatory violations for which it seeks to hold CLA responsible for more than three years before it commenced its lawsuit. Therefore, the two-year limitations clause is not unreasonable as applied to the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals'

conclusion that the limitations period is enforceable should not be disturbed.

C. The Statute of Limitations Bars EPIC's Claims.

Even if the contractual limitations clause were not enforceable, the applicable Washington statute of limitations would still apply to bar EPIC's claims against CLA. Although this issue was addressed in the parties' briefs, it was not reached by the Court of Appeals.

1. EPIC's claims are barred by the three-year statute of limitations applicable to tort claims.

The statute of limitations bars EPIC's claims against CLA. Under Washington law, a three-year statute of limitations applies to tort claims, including professional malpractice actions. RCW § 4.16.080. As established above, EPIC had knowledge of facts under the "discovery rule" sufficient to put it on notice of its potential claims against CLA by no later than September 2012. However, EPIC waited until December 2015 – nearly four years after learning of the issue, and three years and three months after receiving CLA's 2012 audit report – to commence this lawsuit. As a result, its claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

2. EPIC's assertion of a breach of contract claim does not alter the limitations period.

Before the Superior Court, EPIC contended that its breach of contract claim against CLA allows it to proceed on the basis of the six-year statute of limitations applicable to contract claims. But EPIC's

purported contract claim fails to state any cause of action and does not permit EPIC to invoke the six-year statute of limitations.

To assert a viable breach of contract claim, EPIC would have had to allege that CLA "violated a specific contractual undertaking," as opposed to alleging a breach of a duty to use reasonable care in the performance of the audit engagements. See Boguch v. Landover Corp., 153 Wn. App. 595, 618-19, 224 P.3d 795, 807-08 (2009) (citing G.W. Constr. Corp. v. Prof'l Serv. Indus., Inc., 70 Wn. App. 360, 366, 853 P.2d 484 (1993)). The court in *Boguch* held that "[a] claim that a realtor breached his or her duty to a seller is not an action on a contract, unless the seller claims that the realtor's omission 'violated a specific contractual undertaking." 153 Wn. App. at 618-19, 224 P.3d at 807-08. Similarly, in G.W. Construction, 70 Wn. App. 360, 853, P.2d 484 (1993), this Court held that an action against inspecting engineers who erroneously certified that the placement of rebar in a building met the plans and specifications sounded in tort, not contract, because the faulty certification "was not a breach of a specific term of [the engineers'] contract." 70 Wn. App. at 366; 853 P.2d at 487. Similarly, in *Owens v. Harrison*, 120 Wn. App. 909, 86 P.3d 1266 (2004), this Court stated,

If the tortious breach of a duty, rather than a breach of a contract, gives rise to the cause of action, the claim is not properly characterized as breach of contract.

120 Wn. App at 915, 86 P.3d at 12 69 (citing *G.W. Constr.*, 70 Wn. App. at 364). As this Court further explained in *Owens*:

[A]n attorney who agrees to draft a will for a client breaches the client contract by failing to draft the will. But if the attorney drafts the will negligently, the client has a tort claim even though the attorney drafted the will and did not breach the contract.

Id. at 915-16, 86 P.3d at 1269 (citing *G.W. Constr.*, 70 Wn. App. at 364, 853 P.2d 484).

Here, EPIC has not alleged that CLA either entirely failed to perform the services that were the subject of the engagement agreements between EPIC and CLA or that CLA breached a particular provision of any of those agreements. Rather, EPIC contends that CLA breached the standard of care applicable to an auditor in failing to identify EPIC's financial mismanagement. (CP 9, ¶ 8; CP 149, ¶ 3; CP 174, ¶ 3.) That is a tort claim, not a contract claim.

Absent an allegation that CLA "violated a specific contractual undertaking," EPIC's purported breach of contract claim fails to state a claim on which relief can be granted and should be dismissed accordingly. Therefore, EPIC's argument that it is asserting a breach of contract claim does not allow it to claim the benefit of the six-year statute of limitations. Instead, the three-year limitations period applies and bars EPIC's claims.

D. Rule of Civil Appellate Procedure 13.4 Does Not Support EPIC's Petition.

Finally, EPIC's Petition for Review is not supported by Rule of Civil Appellate Procedure 13.4(b).

This case does not involve a matter of "substantial public interest." Although EPIC attempts to portray this case as one in which the accountants are improperly using unreasonable limitations clauses to shield themselves from wrongdoing, that portrayal is not supported by the record. As established above, EPIC was on notice, no later than September 2012, of the factual basis of its claims against CLA. Despite that notice, EPIC failed to act diligently. It waited a year to retain an expert; that expert waited nearly two years to issue a report; then EPIC waited six more months to commence the action. Instead of a matter of substantial public interest, this case presents an unremarkable and fact-specific instance of a claimant failing to act diligently to pursue its claims.

Similarly, contrary to EPIC's contention, there is no conflict among Court of Appeals decisions for this Court to resolve by granting review in the present case. EPIC cites two cases not considered by the Court of Appeals in this case, *Murphey v. Grass*, 164 Wn. App. 584, 267 P.3d 376 (2011) and *Sabey v. Howard Johnson & Co.*, 101 Wn. App. 575, 5 P.3d 730 (2000), for the proposition that Division I provides a different standard for determining when a claim accrues.⁴ Not so. In *Murphey*, the court was concerned with the limitations period for filing a claim against a CPA for negligent preparation of tax returns. The court considered and applied the specific statute regarding when a tax assessment becomes

-

⁴ It appears that this Court was not asked to review the decisions in either *Murphey* or *Sabey*.

final. *Murphey*, 164 Wn. App. at 591, 267 P.3d 376. Based upon this statute, the plaintiff had no certain liability until the tax appeals division made the assessments final, binding and due for payment. *Id.* at 594-95. In *Sabey*, the court concluded that claims against an actuarial consultant accrued when the shareholder agreed to pay the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation for the shortfall. *Sabey*, 101 Wn. App. at 593. Here, by contrast, the Court of Appeals concluded that EPIC had already incurred actual expenses by February 2012. (Op., p. 19.) Thus, the decisions in *Murphey* and *Sabey* are consistent with the Court of Appeals' analysis in this case.

More important, EPIC does not identify any conflict between the Court of Appeals' analysis in this matter and the analysis applied by this Court in previous cases, including *1000 Virginia*. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals properly applied long-standing principles of Washington law as established and articulated by this Court.

In short, EPIC's Petition for Review does not identify any basis for review under RCAP 13.4(b).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, EPIC's Petition for Review should be denied.